1977

David Bowen v. Ruth Olsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a suit by a prospective buyer of real estate to compel specific performance of an option contract which is part of an executed earnest money agreement for the sale of real property.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On March 17, 1977, the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, Judge J. Robert Bullock presiding, after a trial on the issues by the court, ruled that the plaintiff was not entitled to a decree of specific performance on the basis that plaintiff had failed to prove a cause of action.

Defendant's counterclaim was also dismissed on the basis of failure to prove a cause of action. Only the judgment against plaintiff is being appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellant seeks reversal of the trial court's findings and judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For simplicity in reference, the titles "plaintiff" and "defendant" will be used herein.

In October 1975, the plaintiff asked Ronald Gardner, hereinafter "Gardner", a licensed real estate agent, to assist him in finding some property for the plaintiff to use as a bicycle shop. Gardner contacted Lee Bamgartner, a licensed real estate agent with whom defendant had listed the property which is the subject of this lawsuit, and which is referred to in the record as parcel "A", and which had frontage on Second West Street, in Provo, Utah. Immediately to the east of parcel "A" is a smaller piece of property described in the record as parcel "B". Both parcels "A" and "B" were a small part of defendant's property which was listed for sale with Mr. Bamgartner.

Plaintiff was desirous of purchasing the frontage property, parcel "A", but Gardner was told by Lee Bamgartner that said parcel was not available because another party had already made an offer on it (R. 17). On November 4, 1975, plaintiff had Gardner present an offer to buy parcel "B" (Exhibit P-17, R 17), and gave Gardner \$1,000.00 to hold as earnest money (R. 100). That offer was refused. Plaintiff then had Gardner present a second offer to purchase parcel "B" on December 22, 1975 (Exhibit D-5, R. 17, 18). The earnest money agreement had not yet been signed by either party, but there was a tentative assent by defendant to sell parcel "B" to the plaintiff at that time. On January 7, 1976, Gardner took the December 22 earnest money agreement back to plaintiff for his signature. (R. 27). At that time, plaintiff expressed a desire to acquire more property from the defendant and instructed Gardner to add to the earnest money an option to buy other land to the east of parcel "B" and an option to buy parcel "A", which is west of parcel "B". The option for property to the east of parcel "A" was never exercised and has no significance in the lawsuit. The next day, January 8, 1976, Gardner wrote the options into the earnest money agreement, but only after defendant and Lee Bamgartner insisted that a stipulation giving defendant ingress and egress be put in at the

same time. After the options and the ingress-egress stipulation were written in, the defendant signed the earnest money (Exhibit D-6, R. 20, 23, 27-28, 44, 57-58, 71, 101).

The closing on parcel "B" was set for February 29, 1976, (Line 15, Exhibit D-6) and the option on the land east of parcel "B" was to be good for six months from the time title was clear (Lines 49-50, Exhibit D-6). The option on parcel "A" was understood to be a "back-up option" to the previously mentioned offer by defendant to sell to another and was to be on the same terms as the prior offer. It was to be good for 90 days from the time notice of release of the first offer was given to plaintiff (Lines 50-57, Exhibit D-6). Plaintiff knew the general terms of the prior offer on parcel "A" (R. 95, 101-102), although there was some confusion about the identity of the party making the first offer. The prior offer had been made by one Larry Walters, but at times both parties were under the impression that Walters was acting for "Iron Horse", a corporation (R. 21, 98, 113, 143-144). Later on the plaintiff and Gardner were also told by Lee Bamgartner that a Mr. Castle was also part of the "Iron Horse" arrangement (R. 34). Castle and Walters were working on developing the land together, and Walters had authorized Castle to act as his agent (R. 115-116). The question of what parties were working together

becomes important later on because of the issue of notice to plaintiff that the previous option on parcel "A" had been given up.

Despite the confusion as to the identity of the prior offeror, there is no doubt that all parties were talking about the same parcel "A" (R. 60-64).

By its terms, the prior offer made by Larry Walters was to expire on December 31, 1975, (R. 37, 108, Exhibits D-3, D-4) but the closing date had been set for February 13, 1976 (R. 85). Walters, however, on the date of the closing, notified the defendant that he would not be able to close on parcel "A" because he was unable to get the necessary financial backing. However, Walters received an extension of the earnest money agreement to April 7, 1976, at which time that offer was changed to other property which Walters subsequently purchased. This extension was granted by reason of Walter's paying \$4,500.00 to Lee Bamgartner on March 29, 1976 (R. 109, 112, Exhibit 19).

On or about February 17, 1976, Castle made an offer to defendant which was for a substantially higher price than the option held by plaintiff (R. 78-79). While plaintiff knew that Castle had been dealing with defendant, he had been given to understand that Castle was part of the "Iron Horse" arrangement (R. 98); and as previously mentioned,

he believed that Castle was the agent of Walters (R. 115-116).

On March 11, 1976, plaintiff bought an additional twenty feet of land from defendant (Exhibit D-6, R. 29, 79).

On April 7, Castle came to an agreement with defendant regarding parcel "A"; and on April 9, Walters came to an agreement with defendant as to the property to the north (R. 80).

There is no evidence of plaintiff ever personally receiving notice that the prior agreement with Walters or "Iron Horse" as to parcel "A" had ever been terminated. Plaintiff indirectly received the information that Walters was buying the land north of parcel "A" and not parcel "A" itself on about May 20 from Walters (R. 99).

There was conflicting evidence about whether Gardner had ever been directly informed that the "Iron Horse" offer had been released (R. 42-43, 46, 76-78, 84).

After the April 20 closing on parcel "B", at which time the ingress and egress across parcel "B" was prepared, plaintiff learned of the separate agreement of defendant with Castle (R. 24, 25).

On May 25, 1976, a letter was sent by plaintiff to defendant giving notice of plaintiff's desire to exercise the option.

While Gardner did present various offers and proposals to defendant and others, Gardner was acting at all times under the supervision of the plaintiff. Gardner never did anything without the express permission and direction of plaintiff (R. 25, 27, 105, 106). Plaintiff personally appeared for his part of all closing (R. 31, 32, 66) and signed all documents himself (R. 25, 31, 32, 53, 54, 95, 101).

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

UNDER THE LIMITED AUTHORITY GIVEN TO RONALD GARDNER, IT IS CONTRARY TO THE LAW TO FIND THAT HE HAD AUTHORITY TO WAIVE THE OPTION

The trial court found that Gardner was plaintiff's agent for all purposes in the transactions between plaintiff and defendant (Findings of Fact 6). Plaintiff contends that Gardner had only limited authority to present offers and that Gardner always acted under plaintiff's direction. Plaintiff, therefore, contends that the trial judge erred in finding that Gardner had such broad powers. Such a broad holding is not supported by the evidence presented at trial and is contrary to the law regarding real estate agents and realtors.

In a suit in equity such as this one for specific performance, the Supreme Court reviews both questions of fact and law. While this is done in the light most favorable to the party prevailing at trial, the trial court's judgment must at least be supported by a preponderance of the evidence. Coombs v. Ouzounian, 24 Utah 2d 39, 465 P.2d 356 (1970). Plaintiff contends that Gardner had no implied or apparent authority to waive the option. It is uncontested that Gardner was never given any express authority to waive plaintiff's option on parcel "A".

The real estate broker-client relationship is one of agency, and the law of agency governs that relationship throughout. 12 Am Jur 2d, Brokers, §30, p. 795. Real estate brokers are special agents with limited powers. 12 Am Jur 2d, Brokers, §66, p. 821 provides:

A real estate broker is, generally speaking, a special agent with limited powers and is, therefore, in dealing with land, closely restricted within the terms of his agency. His authority is only such as is specifically conferred, either expressly or by necessary implication. He must keep within the bounds of the authority conferred upon him, otherwise the principal will not be bound. Persons dealing with him are chargeable with notice of limitation of his power and put upon inquiry to ascertain the extent of his authority.

In determining the extent of his authority, his contract will be strictly construed, and any doubts will be resolved against him.

Because their powers are limited, they are better described as realtors rather than agents.

Business usage and customs are also considered in evaluating the extent of an agent's implied authority. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, §72, p. 474. Gardner was not authorized to do anything without the express authority of the plaintiff (R. 25,105, 106). Gardner was empowered by both the earnest money agreement and plaintiff's oral instructions to present several different offers to the defendant and Castle. Gardner was asked by plaintiff to help advise the plaintiff in qualifying with the city planners. Gardner took care of the details in preparation for the closing, and both Gardner and Lee Bamgartner were present at the real estate closing on parcel "B". Together they prepared the papers for parcel "B" even though the plaintiff and defendant appeared separately for their respective parts of the transaction. All of these activities constitute the normal and expected conduct of realtors with limited powers, because they are details collaterally related to the agent's authority. It is also common knowledge that a realtor's authority does not extend to making binding decisions for his client without express authority. Gardner, therefore, had no implied authority to waive the option.

Because there was not express or implied authority to waive the option, the trial court's finding of a waiver can only be based on the theory of apparent authority. Apparent authority is that which, though not actually granted, the principal knowingly permits the agent to exercise or which he holds him out as possessing. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, §73, p. 475. A principal may also clothe an agent with apparent authority by negligently failing to disapprove of the agent's acts which cause the public to believe the agent has authority. 3 Am Jur 2d Agency, §74, p. 477. In the case at bar, there is no evidence that plaintiff negligently failed to disapprove of Gardner's acts. Plaintiff was never made aware of the alleged waiver and promptly sought to exercise his option when notified of the prior option failing.

For an agent's acts to be binding on his principal, there must have been (1) consent or knowing permission of the agent's acts by the principal; (2) knowledge by the third party of the principal's acts of consent; and (3) reliance by the third party to his detriment on that fact. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, §75 p. 477; B & R Supply Co. v. Bringhurst, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216 (1972); Bank of Salt Lake v. Corporation of President of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 534 P.2d 887 (1975); Malia v. Giles, 100 Utah 562, 114 P.2d 208 (1941).

There was no evidence offered to show that Gardner had such broad authority except what other claims Gardner himself said regarding a waiver, which statement is disputed by Gardner (R. 42, 43, 46, 76-78, 84).

There is no dispute, however, over the fact that plaintiff had never given Gardner any authority by either signing for or releasing the plaintiff's rights in parcel "A" (R. 105, 106). Proof of an agent's authority must come from acts by his principal and not from the agent's own representations or activities. Santi v. Denver & R.G. W.R. Co., 21 Utah 2d 157, 442 P.2d 921 (1968); B & R Supply Co. v. Bringham, 28 Utah 2d 442, 503 P.2d 1216 (1972); Bank of Salt Lake v. Corporation of President of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 534 P.2d 887 (1975); Malia v. Giles, 100 Utah 562, 114 P.2d 208 (1941).

Because there was no act by plaintiff which could be construed as giving Gardner apparent authority to waive the option, any findings based on apparent authority must fail because there is not evidence of the first necessary element, an act by the principal which gives the apparent authority. The very essence of this case is that, even assuming Gardner did orally waive the option, any waiver was clearly beyond the scope of his authority, was unauthorized and unknown by the plaintiff, and, therefore, not

binding on the plaintiff. This court, in one of the few cases dealing with the issue of a realtor's oral waiver of option rights said that the rights of a seller on an option contract cannot be orally waived by a realtor unless specifically authorized to do so. Equitable v. Nielsen, 30 Utah 2d 433, 519 P.2d 243 (1974). The Equitable case dealt with a realtor's waiver of a seller's rights while this case deals with a realtor's waiver of a buyer's rights. Equitable was a suit by a realtor for a commission, but the basic principal is the same. A realtor's unauthorized oral waiver of option rights is not binding on the party the realtor sought to bind. An agent's improper assumption of authority is not binding on his principal. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, §78, P. 482.

The defendant was also chargeable with knowledge of Gardner's limited authority as a realtor and had the duty to ascertain his authority to waive any option agreement. A principal is not bound if his agent is exceeding his authority, and the third party knew or should have known of the improper act through reasonable diligence. 3 Am Jur 2d Agency, §77, p. 481; 12 Am Jur 2d, Brokers §65-66, pp. 819-821; Dohrmann Hotel Supply Co. v. Beau Brummell, Inc., 99 Utah 188, 103 P.2d 650 (1940). Because of defendant's own failure to ascertain Gardner's limited authority, she

cannot be allowed to prevail by claiming that she relied to her detriment on her own failure to ascertain the authority of those with whom she was dealing. A principal is allowed to assume that third parties dealing with his agent will not be negligent in failing to ascertain the limits of the agent's authority. 3 Am Jur 2d, Agency, §78, p. 482-483.

Because plaintiff had a firm contract right represented by the option, his position is analogous to that of a person being desirous of selling his land. Where the seller engages the services of a realtor, giving him authority only to locate a buyer who is ready, willing and able to purchase the land under a standard broker's listing, the law is clear that the realtor cannot bind the seller to give up his own land if the realtor signs a contract for sale himself. The realtor's only authority is to bring the parties together, absent specific authority to the contrary. 12 Am Jur 2d, Brokers, §71, pp. 824-826, 43 ALR 2d 1014 at 1015; Frandsen v. Gerstner, 26 Utah 2d 180, 487 P.2d 697 (1971). Likewise, plaintiff should not be forced to surrender his option rights because his realtor erroneously waives the option without authority.

For the foregoing reasons, the plaintiff contends that the evidence was insufficient as a matter of law to

support the conclusion that Gardner had express, implied or apparent authority from plaintiff to waive the option.

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT'S READING OF THE EARNEST MONEY AS ENTIRELY ABRGGATED OR MERGED INTO THE SUBSEQUENT DEED AND AGREEMENT WAS CONTRARY TO THE FACTS AND THE LAW

The trial court found that by the express terms of the earnest money receipt and "option" to purchase, the option on parcel "A" contained therein was abrogated at the time of the final contract.

Plaintiff contends that the trial court's interpretation of the earnest money failed to take into account all of the terms of the earnest money and that the court is, therefore, factually in error.

A trial court's interpretation of a written document is not binding on appeal; and this court may, therefore, interpret the earnest money agreement anew, as long as extrinsic evidence is not needed to interpret it because of ambiguities. Ephraim Theatre Co. v. Hawk, 7 Utah 2d 163, 321 P.2d 221 (1953); Lake v. Hermes Associates, 552 P.2d 126 (1976). The trial court looked at the express terms of the agreement only and found them unambiguous as to the

issue of abrogation. This court, therefore, may interpret the earnest money agreement anew. Line 39 through 41 of the earnest money agreement provide the following, which is part of the printed form:

It is understood and agreed that the terms written in this receipt constitute the entire Preliminary Contract between the purchaser and the Seller, and that no verbal statement made by anyone relative to this transaction shall be construed to be a part of this transaction unless incorporated in writing herein. If is further agreed that execution of the final contract shall abrogate this Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase. (Emphasis added)

The trial court based its findings of abrogation on this language and the subsequent papers prepared at the closing of parcel "B" but failed to consider two other very important facts apparent on the face of the earnest money agreement and subsequent papers on parcel "B". These are the following: (1) The earnest money itself provides on line 25 for a closing on February 29, 1976, but for the option on property to the east of parcel "B" and the option on parcel "A" to be good for six months (line 49) and 90 days after notice of release of a prior offer (line 54) respectively. These time periods clearly show an intent for the options to survive the closing, which was set for less than 60 days after the agreement was accepted and only 79 days from the date the earnest money was filled out; (2) The

earnest money form, although printed in the singular tense, was really being used to evidence three separate agreements, a contract for sale on parcel "B" and options on parcel "A" and additional property east of parcel "B". It is a common procedure in the real estate business to use one form such as this for several lots or parcels which are in close proximity to each other or otherwise related. A contract for the sale of real estate and an option contract are different contracts with different obligations, and each must be treated separately. 77 Am Jur 2d, Vendor and Purchaser, §28, pp. 206-206.

Because of these additional facts, the only way to give a proper construction to all of the terms of the earnest money agreement is to rule that each separate agreement will be abrogated when the final contract as to that parcel is executed. This seems to be the only reasonable construction under the rules of construction.

The rule is well settled that where part of a contract is written or typed and part is printed, and the written or typed and the printed parts are apparently inconsistent or there is reasonable doubt as to the sense and meaning of the whole, the words in writing or typing will control.

17 Am Jur 2d Contracts, § 271 p. 679; Holland v. Brown, 15 Utah 2d 422, 394 P.2d 77 (1964).

Where the written or typed and printed parts may be reconciled by any reasonable construction, as by regarding

one as a qualification of the other, that construction must be given, because it cannot be assumed that the parties intended to insert ineffective provisions. 17 Am Jur 2d Contracts, §271, p. 679. 77 Am Jur 2d, Vendor and Purchaser, §60, p. 245.

Under these rules, the only possible conclusion can be that the two options on the separate parcels of ground were not destroyed by the execution of a final contract for the third parcel which was parcel "B" and that the trial court's construction should, therefore, be reversed, even if the words are construed against plaintiff, who was the party responsible for the choice of words used.

The parties could have later intended to abrogate or otherwise surrender the options at the closing on parcel "B", but the evidence is that parcel "A" was not discussed at the time of closing parcel "B". Plaintiff also contends that the trial court erred in applying the law to this closing on parcel "B" by ruling that the option on parcel "A" was abrogated or otherwise excluded by the closing on parcel "B".

Abrogation is defined in Black's Law Dictionary as an act of annulment, repeal, destruction, or subrogation of authority. Abrogation is basically another name for the doctrine of merger, which is that all prior negotiations

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