1977

David Bowen v. Ruth Olsen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellee suggests that the Court will better understand the facts if Exhibit 2 is kept in front of the reader for ready reference.

In the fall of 1975, Mrs. Olsen was the owner of approximately five acres of land located at 1400 North and 200 West in Provo. (Exhibit 1). The property has about 400 feet of frontage on 200 West and the north and south lines are approximately parallel in an east west direction. The eastern boundary was on an angle generally north-northeast as the navigator might call it. Within a distance of 50 to 100 feet from the east boundary the property is bisected by a canal commonly called the Mill Race which runs generally north and south approximately parallel to the east boundary.

Mrs. Olsen was formerly Mrs. Frazier and Exhibit 1, prepared by the engineer and surveyor erroneously labels the

property as Frazier property. His second diagram, Exhibit 1, corrects his error and properly designates it as the Olsen property.

In the fall of 1975 Mrs. Olsen began to receive a number of proposals relating to the property. In order to explain those proposals and better understand the facts, they are considered chronologically.

1. Summer of 1975. It was contemplated by Mrs. Olsen that the city would construct a road running east and west along the south side of the property. This street was necessary because of the large apartment house complex that was then under construction on North University Avenue east of the Olsen property. This street requirement was further dictated by the fact that there were no other east and west streets between 1230 North and 1550 North.

2. September 3, 1975. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Walters. (Exhibit 3). On this date a Mr. Warren C. Walters made a proposal to Mrs. Olsen to purchase the property shown as parcel A on Exhibit 2. The property which Mr. Walters then desired to purchase was 163.03 feet of frontage on 200 West which commenced 33 feet north of Mrs. Olsen's south boundary. The reason for the 33 foot reservation is that it was then contemplated that Mrs. Olsen would contribute the 33 feet for a proposed roadway to Provo City. That offer was never accepted.

3. December 19, 1975. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Walters. (Exhibit 4). At this time Mr. Walters

again negotiated a purchase of substantially the same property described in his previous earnest money, except that this time he was to acquire the 33 feet and to make the dedication of the roadway to Provo City himself. This offer was accepted. The offer by its terms required closing on or before December 31, 1975.

4. December 22, 1975. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Bowen. (Exhibits 5 and 6). The property subject to this offer lies immediately to the east of the property subject to the Walters offer of December 19, 1975.

Exhibit 5 is the Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase as signed by Mr. Bowen. At that time, December 22, 1975, the option language on lines 47 to 55 was not included. The option was added on January 8, 1976, by Mr. Ronald G. Gardner, acting on behalf of Mr. David Bowen, and outside of the presence of Mr. Bowen. (See Exhibit 6). Mr. Gardner, on behalf of Mr. David Bowen, prepared this instrument on December 22, 1975, however, it was not presented to Mrs. Olsen until January 8, 1976.

Gardner, who had been Bowen's agent in the previous transaction, arranged to meet with Mrs. Olsen in his office on the 8th of January, 1976, after Mrs. Olsen's work day. Mrs. Olsen was employed at Z.C.M.I., and when she completed her duties that day she proceeded to Mr. Gardner's office. At that time he added the "option" language included on lines 47 through 55 of Exhibit 6 which is as follows:

Seller also agrees to give buyer an option on part or all property west of piece being purchased. Buyer understands there presently exists an Earnest Money Offer in favor of Iron Horse Corporation. This is preserved as a backup to that offer. This option good for ninety days from time of original offer being released and notice given to buyer. Option to be same price and terms of contract effected between Iron Horse Corporation and Ruth Olsen. (D. Ex. 6).

All of the writing and all of the language contained on Exhibit 6 were selected by Mr. Gardner. At that time, while Mrs. Olsen was present, he called Mr. Lee Bamgartner, Mrs. Olsen's real estate agent, and explained the nature of the suggested option. Mrs. Olsen then signed the document of December 22, 1975. She did not know who "Iron Horse" Corporation was, but she assumed that the language was meaningful to Gardner and Bowen. (R. 104, 106).

As of January 8, 1976, Mrs. Olsen had never met Mr. Bowen, and all dealings related to the Bowen offer were conducted by Mr. Gardner. (R. 101).

5. Early February, 1976. Mr. David E. Castle contacted Mrs. Olsen and explained his interest in purchasing her property that had heretofore been the subject of Walter's offer of December 19, 1973. Walters, by this time, appeared to have forfeited his interest in the property. Mrs. Olsen told Mr. Castle that she could not deal with him because she had some sort of an option agreement with Bowen. (R. 110). Mrs. Olsen told Castle that he would have to resolve the matter with Bowen before she could deal directly with him. (R. 110).

Thereafter, Mrs. Olsen, Mr. Bamgartner and Mr. Castle all talked with Mr. Gardner, who appeared to be Mr. Bowen's agent. Mr. Gardner advised all three of these people that "Bowen does not want the property". Mrs. Olsen remembered the conversation clearly because she had to go to Georgia on February 16, so she knew the conversation with Mr. Gardner took place prior to that date. She located the discussion as having occurred in the Z.C.M.I. store when she saw Mr. Gardner. He advised her that "Bowen does not want the property". (R. 108, 109).

6. February 17, 1976. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Castle. (Exhibit 7). Mr. Castle testified that he had been dealing with Walters in January and February of 1976 and had discovered that Walters did not want the property and could not complete the contract by himself. Walters was, however, interested in a portion of the property.

After learning of the Walters interest in the property, he then contacted Gardner to find out if Bowen had continuing interest in an option on the Walters property. He believes that he talked to Gardner on February 17, because he has a memo dated that date with information that he could only have acquired from Gardner. (R. 194). He at that time told Gardner that he had been approached by Walters and had agreed that they would allow him to negotiate with Mrs. Olsen for the property that Walters had theretofore offered to buy. Gardner and Castle discussed some arrangement to give Bowen some additional parking on the property that

Castle would be buying from Mrs. Olsen if he were successful in presenting his Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase.

On the basis of Mr. Castle's discussion with Mr. Gardner and Mr. Walters, he prepared the Earnest Money Agreement dated February 17, 1976, which is Exhibit 7. He would not have prepared that had he felt that there was an outstanding option for the same property on behalf of Mr. Bowen. In Mr. Castle's words, "I had to clear with Ron Gardner in order to purchase the property." (R. 193). The Earnest Money Agreement of Mr. Castle was not accepted by Mrs. Olsen and the proposal failed.

7. March 11, 1976. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Bowen. (Exhibit 8). At this time, Bowen, still acting through Gardner, had concluded he needed an additional piece of property to the north of that which we had agreed to purchase. This was made necessary in order to acquire a building permit.

Mr. Gardner represented Mr. Bowen in this entire transaction and Mrs. Olsen never, at any time, met Mr. Bowen.

By this time, Gardner had visited with Mr. Castle at Castle's home in Lindon and they had discussed the Bowen property and Castle's negotiation with Mrs. Olsen for the property that had formerly been the subject of the Walters transaction. Gardner was advised concerning Castle's plans and Gardner never, at any time, told Castle that Bowen had an option on the property or that he had any interest in the Olsen (Walters) property, and in fact, Gardner indicated

that Bowen had no further interest in the option.

As of March 4, 1976, Gardner was negotiating with Castle for additional parking for Mr. Bowen in the event Castle was able to complete his transaction with Mrs. Olsen. (R. 173). Castle testified that when he met with Gardner in his home on March 4, 1976, he connected his conversation with Gardner with the previous instructions that he had received with Mrs. Olsen early in February to the effect that he had to get Mr. Gardner's clearance. He was asked specifically the following questions:

Q. When you met with Mr. Gardner in your home, did you connect that meeting with Mr. Gardner with a comment of Mrs. Frazier made earlier in February that you had to get his clearance?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And did you assume by the fact that you had told him that you were buying the property and he registered no dissent that it was a agreeable?

A. Yes, I did. (R. 206)

* * *

Q. Mr. Castle, in respect to your negotiations with Mr. Gardner, did you associate Mr. Gardner as being the agent for the bike shop? [Mr. Bowen]

A. Yes, I did. (R. 207-208)

Mr. Castle never met Mr. Bowen personally, but had all of his dealings concerning the Bowen property with Gardner.

As of March 4, 1976, Mrs. Olsen had never had any dealings with Mr. Bowen, except through Mr. Gardner.

The Earnest Money Agreement of March 11, 1976, was

handled entirely by Mr. Gardner and Mrs. Olsen did not see Mr. Bowen.

8. April 7, 1976. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Castle. (Exhibit 9). On April 7, 1976, Mr. Castle revised his Earnest Money Receipt and submitted it to Mrs. Olsen. At this time, the Castle offer was to include all of the property that had formerly been subject to the Walters offer, but including an additional 30 feet to the north. (See Exhibit 2). Mr. Castle, at this time, had acquired an agreement from Mr. Walters to build a structure on the property purchased for him (Walters). Mrs. Olsen testified she would not have dealt with Mr. Castle on this property had she thought that Bowen claimed any further interest in the property. She was further of the opinion that Mr. Gardner was completely informed of the Castle transaction and Castle testified that Gardner was completely informed of his transaction with Mrs. Olsen.

9. April 9, 1976. Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase - Walters, (Exhibit 10). On this date Walters negotiated with Mrs. Olsen to buy the property immediately North of that which is being purchased by Castle. (Exhibit 2).

The testimony is in dispute as to whether the \$4,500.00 which was paid on March 29, 1976, by Mr. Walters was then to apply on the property purchased under Exhibit 10, or whether it was to continue the option on the December 19, 1975,

earnest money agreement. Mr. Bamgartner, who handled the matter for Mrs. Olsen, categorically stated that the \$4,500.00 was to be applied with the \$500.00 theretofore paid on the December 19th contract as the down payment for the purchase of the property covered by Exhibit 10. Mr. Walters contends that it was consideration for extending his right to purchase under the December 19, Earnest Money Offer, Exhibit 4. The question is moot, however, since there is no dispute between Walters and Mrs. Olsen and Walters apparently was content to have the entire \$5,000.00 apply to the Earnest Money Agreement, Exhibit 10, which, in fact, has now been converted into a deed secured by a Deed of Trust.

10. April 20, 1976. At this time, the Bowen contract was closed and Mr. Gardner and Mr. Bamgartner prepared the Warranty Deed, Exhibit 11, the closing statement for seller, Exhibit 12, the closing statement for buyer, Exhibit 13, and a letter agreement dated April 20, 1976, Exhibit 14. The letter agreement pertained to Bowen's responsibility for paying for improvement to his property connected with the construction of the street. That agreement was written by Mr. Gardner.

The transaction with Mr. Bowen was closed at Zions First National Bank (R. 112). Those present at the time of closing were Lee Bamgartner, Mrs. Olsen, Mrs. Olsen's son, and Ron Gardner, the representative for Mr. Bowen. Mr. Bowen did not appear.

Nothing was said at this time concerning Mr. Bowen's option, if in fact he intended to retain one.

12. May 25, 1976. On this date Mr. Jeril B. Wilson, attorney for Mr. Bowen, wrote a demand letter to Mrs. Olsen, which she received subsequent to that date. (Exhibit 15).

On May 28, 1976, Mr. Wilson acting on behalf of Mr. Bowen, filed a Lis Pendens against the property of Mrs. Olsen. (Exhibit 21).

Because of the letter of May 25, and the lis pendens that was filed, Mr. Castle refused to go forward with the earnest money agreement dated May 9, 1976, which was then the process of closing. It is from this point the litigation commenced.

Mr. Bowen acknowledges that all of the transactions concerning the acquisition and purchase of the property in question were handled on his behalf by Mr. Gardner, and at no time prior to the taking of the depositions in this case did Mrs. Olsen ever meet Mr. Bowen. Mr. Bamgartner testified that all of his transactions on behalf of Mrs. Olsen, in connection with the Bowen transaction were completed through Mr. Gardner.

There is also submitted as Exhibit 20, an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase, between Lawrence Walters and others, with Mr. David E. Castle. This exhibit was offered to demonstrate that Castle, as of February 13, 1976, had resolved his right to purchase the Walters contract and was merely waiting authority from Gardner on behalf of Bowen

deal directly with Mrs. Olsen concerning the property which was subject to the Walters Earnest Money Receipt of December 19, 1975.

It is defendant's contention that the terms of the earnest money agreement of December 22, 1975, (Exhibit 6), were merged into the deed and subsequent agreement between Mrs. Olsen and Bowen. Since the option was not preserved beyond that time, it is null and void. In the alternative, defendant asserts that Bowen waived any rights in the option by telling Mrs. Olsen, through Gardner, that he was no longer interested in the property and allowing her to negotiate with Mr. Castle and Mr. Walters. In addition, it is defendant's position that the option agreement was not supported by consideration, and therefore, it is not an enforceable contract. Finally, the purported option agreement is completely unintelligible, and therefore, void for vagueness.

POINT I

THE LANGUAGE OF THE EARNEST MONEY AGREEMENT CLEARLY ABROGATES ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE EARNEST MONEY AGREEMENT NOT INCLUDED IN THE FINAL CONTRACT OR DEED.

The language of the Earnest Money Agreement is clear that execution of the final contract abrogates the Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase.

Lines 39 through 41 of the Earnest Money Agreement contain the following language:

It is understood and agreed that the terms written in this receipt constitute the entire preliminary contract between the purchaser and the seller, and that no verbal statement made by anyone relative to this transaction shall be construed to be a part of this transaction unless incorporated in writing herein. It is further agreed that execution of the final contract shall abrogate this Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase. (Emphasis added).

It is a well stated rule that "a deed executed subsequent to the making of an executory contract for the sale of land supercedes that contract not only as to provisions made pursuant to the terms of the contract but also as to stipulations in the contract of which the conveyance is not a performance, if the parties intended to surrender them, but they are not superceded if the parties did not intend to surrender them." 77 Am.Jur.2d 449, Vendor and Purchaser, Section 290.

The facts clearly indicate that Bowen never intended to preserve the option. Between December 22, 1975, the date of writing of the option, and May 25, 1976, there was never any indication by Bowen that he intended to preserve the option. To the contrary, Gardner, Bowen's agent, repeatedly stated to Mrs. Olsen, to Mrs. Bamgartner, and to Mr. Castle that Bowen had no intention of exercising the option. In addition, at the closing of the Bowen-Olsen transaction on April 20, 1976, absolutely no mention was made of preserving the option in the deed and agreement executed at that time. The transaction was closed with Mrs. Olsen, Mrs. Olsen's son, Mr. Gardner, and Mr. Bamgartner present. Nothing

said at that time concerning Mr. Bowen's option. Prior to, and at the time of closing, there was absolutely no evidence of Bowen's intent to exercise the option. The only evidence of Bowen's intent to preserve the option is the belated letter from Bowen's attorney on May 25, 1976.

It was upon these factors that the Court based its Finding that:

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